IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 93,148 & 93,195 4TH DCA CASE NOS. 98-01430 & 98-1747 L.T. CASE NO. CL 95-1466 AH

FILE SID J. WHITE

JUL 24 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

AMERICAN TOBACCO CO., et al.,

Appellees.

On Petition For Discretionary Review of Appeal Certified as Requiring Immediate Resolution

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS STATE OF FLORIDA, LAWTON M. CHILES, JR., DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS & **PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, THE AGENCY FOR HEALTH CARE ADMINISTRATION, AND THE DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS**

THOMSON MURARO RAZOOK & HART, P.A.

INTRODUCTION

These consolidated appeals by the State of Florida, Lawton M. Chiles, Jr., et al.(collectively, the "State") involve a question certified by the Fourth District to be of great public importance requiring immediate resolution by this Court:

Are the funds derived from the tobacco settlement subject to disbursement by the trial court?

Subsumed in this question are fundamental issues involving Separation of Powers (whether the court can disburse, without legislative appropriation, settlement proceeds paid for the benefit of the State to its private lawyers), sovereign immunity (whether the State's lawyers can lien State funds for payment of their fees), and the professional responsibilities of lawyers.¹ The certified question arises from the consolidated appeals of three orders entered by the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Palm Beach County, Florida:

(1) "Order Implementing Most Favored Nation Provision of Florida Settlement Agreement" (the "MFN Order," App. 1),² which judicially rewrites the

¹Neither the certified question nor Senate Bill 1270 (discussed at Section I.A.3) is directed at the monies separately paid and to be paid by the Settling Defendants to the State's private lawyers for their fees and costs, as required by the Settlement Agreement.

²"App." refers to the State's appendix accompanying the initial brief filed in the Fourth District, Case No. 98-01430, prior to this Court accepting jurisdiction and consolidating such appeal with Case No. 98-01747. "Supp. App." refers to the State's Supplemental Appendix filed with this Initial Brief.

State's Settlement Agreement with the Settling Defendants (all tobacco manufacturers) over the objections of all settling parties. The MFN Order is expressly contrary to the parties' Settlement Agreement, which required the Settling Defendants to pay the State's legal fees. Specifically, the MFN Order requires the State to pay \$50 million of its settlement proceeds as an "advance" to its lawyers, even though there was no Legislative appropriation authorizing such use of these State funds. It declares all settlement funds to be "not the State's funds" until "deemed" so by the court, and mandates <u>all</u> future settlement proceeds to be escrowed under the court's complete control, for the purpose of securing the lawyers' \$2.8 billion putative charging liens. This Order was entered April 16, 1998 over the objections of all the settling parties and at the behest of one of the State's lawyers, acting <u>not</u> on behalf of the State, but "individually and on behalf of the People's Trial Advocates".

(2) "Order On State of Florida's Motion Requesting Stay of Court Order of April 16, 1998 - Implementing Most Favored Nation Provision of Florida Settlement Agreement," entered April 24, 1998, which denied the State's motion to stay the MFN Order, and ordered the immediate transfer of \$50 million in State funds to its private lawyers, despite a specific Legislative appropriation of all the settlement funds for public purposes ("Disbursement Order," App. 2).

(3) "Order Directing the Immediate Transfer Of All Funds into the Court's

Registry," dated May 15, 1998, which transferred over \$200 million of the State's settlement funds into the court's registry for the purpose of securing the lawyers' putative charging liens. ("Judicial Appropriation Order," Supp. App. 1). This transfer has already cost the State over \$2 million in court fees deducted by the Clerk, and continues to cost the State lost interest on the funds each day (collectively, the "Appealed Orders").

The case below resulted in an \$11+ billion tobacco settlement in favor of the State, and has been described by the trial court as "unprecedented in the annals of Florida law." (Supp. App. 2, at 1). However, as Judge Cohen noted in his recent recusal order (entered in response to a motion for disqualification filed by three of the State's private lawyers without the State's consent), any victory by the State has been "completely soured" by a handful of the State's private lawyers:

The court did everything in its power to have the nasty dispute concerning attorneys' fees resolved to the satisfaction of all interested parties. Referrals to mediation, facilitators and arbitration were ordered. However, the dispute concerning fees has now become a major feature of the litigation in this case and has completely soured the Plaintiffs' victory....

While the Attorney's Charging Lien for 2.8 billion dollars (see copy attached) remains in effect, the Court cautions counsel once again to try and resolve the remaining dispute over fees in a fair and equitable manner short of protracted and expensive litigation. The court is convinced that if the judiciary does not apply The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and The Rules of Professional Conduct to disputes such as this one as set forth in this Court's November 12, 1997 order, then it will not be long before the Legislature removes the whole matter of lawyer discipline from the supervision of the judiciary.

(Supp. App. 2 and 3). This "nasty fee dispute" has festered for ten months and is the basis for these consolidated appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. The Tobacco Litigation And The People's Trial Advocates.

The case below commenced in February 1995, when the State, represented by its own State attorneys joined by a joint venture group comprised of several private law firms (identified as the "Peoples' Trial Advocates" or "PTA"), filed an initial complaint against the tobacco industry seeking reimbursement of approximately \$250-350 million per year in taxpayer-borne Medicaid expenses incurred by the State (the "Medicaid Claims"). In November 1996, the State filed a Third Amended Complaint that significantly expanded the scope of the suit beyond Medicaid reimbursement, to include claims for racketeering under Chapter 895, Fla. Stat. ("RICO"), other statutory causes of action, common law torts and punitive damages (the "non-Medicaid claims"). (App. 57).

The PTA originally agreed to provide legal services in connection with the State's prosecution of the Medicaid Claims pursuant to a document titled "Standard Contract - State of Florida, Agency for Health Care Administration" (the "Medicaid Provider Contract,"App. 58).³ This Contract was entered pursuant to §409.910(15)(b), Fla. Stat.,⁴ and was signed by each member-firm of the PTA. The

essential terms of the Contract relevant to these appeals are:

--All rights and obligations under the Medicaid Provider Contract flowed to the PTA <u>collectively</u>, as a joint venture, for <u>one</u> fee. This fee was based upon recovery for the Medicaid Claims <u>only</u>, and was to be shared and distributed in accordance with the PTA's internal arrangements. <u>See</u> para. I.C. to Att. 1 of the Contract, "the total 25 percent contingency fee sum is agreed to be shared and distributed among the providers.⁵ (App. 58, at 11, ¶C.1). The PTA was so organized. (Supp. App. 8).

--The contingency fee, which was expressly based upon any recovery of the State's Medicaid expenditures (estimated to be a maximum of \$1.0 billion),⁶ was further subject to the statutory limitations of Section 409.910(15)(b), Fla. Stat., and "any [other] limitations imposed by law or the Rules of the Florida Bar..." (App. 58, at 11, ¶B.3).

--An essential term of the Contract agreed to by the PTA was that "the State will ask the Court to require the [Tobacco Defendants] to pay <u>all</u> the [State's]

⁵Section 409.910(15)(b), Fla. Stat., specifically limited the fees recoverable. The Medicaid Provider Contract reduced the potential maximum fee recovery from 30 percent to 25 percent. (App. 58 at 10, \P A).

⁶The trial court limited the State's recovery on Medicaid Claims to those occurring after July 1, 1994 and prohibited future damages, thus limiting claims to a three-year period.

³This "Standard Contract" was in fact significantly revised and manipulated by the PTA's counsel prior to execution. <u>See, i.e.</u>, App. 60.

⁴The constitutionality of the 1994 amendments to Section 409.910, Fla. Stat., was upheld by this Court in <u>Agency For Health Care Administration v. Associated</u> <u>Industries of Florida, Inc.</u>, 678 So.2d 1239 (Fla. 1996), <u>cert denied</u>, 137 L.Ed. 327, 117 S.Ct. 1245 (U.S. 1997), except for three provisions of the amendments not here applicable which were stricken as written.

attorneys' fees and costs." (App. 58 at 10) (emphasis added).

The Contract was not amended when these non-Medicaid Claims were later filed.⁷ In fact, many of these claims were based upon fee-shifting statutes, such as RICO, which provided for recovery of the State's attorneys' fees incurred in prevailing upon these claims from the losing defendants. §895.05(7), Fla. Stat. But the non-Medicaid claims increased the maximum potential recovery in the tobacco litigation from an estimated \$1.0 billion (\$250-\$350 million for each of three years) to a total of over \$12.0 billion. By filing these non-Medicaid claims, the PTA lawyers were on notice that if they prevailed they would be seeking their fees <u>not</u> from the State, but from the tobacco industry, as provided by the applicable Florida statutes.

B. <u>The Settlement Agreement And The Settlement Order.</u>

Jury selection began in August 1997. Prior to the completion of jury selection, however, settlement negotiations had commenced. Representing the State in these negotiations were the Governor, the Attorney General, representatives from each of their staffs, two designees of the PTA (PTA Designees Maher and Rice) and Parker Thomson. Ultimately, the State and five "Settling Defendants" agreed to a proposed

⁷The PTA attempted to amend the Contract to include these non-Medicaid claims, but the State did not agree. Of course, without any written amendment, the Medicaid Provider Contract would apply in accordance with its specific terms, as this Court has recently ruled. <u>County of Brevard v. Miorelli Engineering, Inc.</u>, 703 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1997).

settlement of all the State's monetary claims.⁸ ("Settlement Agreement," App. 56). Consistent with the requirements of the Medicaid Provider Contract and the statutory fee-shifting provisions predicating the non-Medicaid claims, the State (with the assistance of the two PTA Designees), negotiated for payment of all its attorneys' fees by the Settling Defendants. The State and PTA prevailed on this issue, and thus the proposed Settlement provided for payment of <u>all</u> the State's attorneys' fees by the Settling Defendants. The parties agreed on arbitration as the methodology for determining a "reasonable fee" for the State's private lawyers. (App. 56, at 14, Section V). PTA Designee Rice requested that only a broad outline of the arbitration provisions be included in the Settlement Agreement. (Supp. App. 9, 10). The Agreement required written signatures of the State and Settling Defendants, but not the PTA.

On August 24, 1997, the PTA gathered at the private residence of PTA lawyer Montgomery in West Palm Beach, at the request of the Governor and for what they believed to be a dinner to celebrate the commencement of trial. Instead, at the conclusion of the meal, the Governor advised those present of the settlement negotiations and the proposed settlement terms. PTA Designees Rice and Maher

⁸The exact recovery cannot be calculated, but is estimated to be at least \$11.0 billion over the next 25 years.

were to explain and discuss the attorneys' fees provision contained in the proposed Settlement Agreement with the entire PTA. (Supp. App. 7)

The Governor advised the PTA lawyers that if the PTA did not agree to the fees provision negotiated by their PTA Designees, that the settlement would not be signed. (App. 63 at pgs. 120-123; 164-176). No one ever advised the Governor or the Attorney General of an objection to the proposed fees provision. (App. 63 at pgs. 120-123; 164-176; Supp. App. 7). To the contrary, the PTA Designees represented that the PTA had agreed to this fees provision. (App. 63 at pgs. 120-123; 164-176; Supp. App. 7, 9, 10). The proposed fees provision was in fact more advantageous than that provided through the Medicaid Provider Contract -- first, under, the Settlement Agreement, the State's lawyers could claim fees through arbitration based upon the entire \$11+ billion settlement, rather than for only the \$1.0 billion in Medicaid reimbursements as required by the Contract and §409.910(15)(b), Fla. Stat; second, the requirement that the Settling Defendants rather than the State pay these fees freed the PTA from the legal requirement for an annual appropriation of its fees by the Legislature. The State relied upon the PTA Designees' representations that the PTA had agreed to this fees proposal, and signed the Settlement Agreement. (App. 63 at pgs. 120-123; 164-176; Supp. App. 7, 9, 10).

The Settlement Agreement was approved and adopted as an enforceable order

of the court on the next day. (App. 56, "Settlement Order").⁹ All PTA members were present, and no one objected to, or appealed the Settlement Order.

C. <u>The PTA's Disintegration And The Unprecedented Charging Liens.</u>

Securing the approval of the Settlement Agreement was the last "joint" effort by the PTA. Immediately thereafter, the PTA lawyers, once referred to as the State's "dream team," dissolved from a "joint venture" into several hostile, warring factions.¹⁰ Six PTA firms filed <u>individual</u> "Notices of Charging Liens" against the State (App. 55), <u>each</u> claiming an <u>individual</u> right to 25% of the "total recovery"--in other words, a fee based upon <u>all</u> \$11+ billion in estimated settlement proceeds from <u>all</u> claims, rather than the fee required by the Contract and §409.910(15(b), which was restricted to a fee based upon the estimated \$1.0 billion for Medicaid Claims only. (App. 55).¹¹ Three Notices demanded a lien against the State equal to <u>\$2.8</u> <u>billion</u> in claimed attorneys' fees.¹² The State moved to quash these Notices of Lien

⁹Certain equitable claims remained pending at that time, which claims were voluntarily dismissed on April 24, 1998.

¹⁰To date, at least three separate lawsuits have been filed by members of the PTA against other members of the PTA, one such suit also naming several of the Settling Defendants. (App. 19, 44 and 45).

¹¹See, i.e., Montgomery's Notice of Charging Lien. One Notice (Kerrigan's) stated that "[t]his lien is filed for and on behalf of any attorney of record for the Plaintiff who may wish to assert a lien for fees." (App. 55).

¹²Because the PTA, through PTA Designee Rice, requested <u>not</u> to include detailed arbitration provisions in the Settlement Agreement, arguments arose over every

("Motion to Quash"), alleging the putative charging liens were void as a matter of Florida law and that the court had no jurisdiction to enforce any such liens against the State's settlement funds. (App. 53).

D. The Initial Settlement Payments And The Escrow Agreements.

The Settlement Agreement required that "immediate benefits" be paid to the State. Thus, two initial payments, totaling \$750 million, were required by September 15, 1997. These payments were to be placed into two escrow accounts for the "benefit of the State," to be held pending "Final Approval of the Settlement Agreement" (a term contractually defined in the Settlement Agreement). (App. 49, 50). The escrows were designed for one purpose -- to protect the Settling Defendants during the period pending "Final Approval." Because of concerns over the Notices of Charging Liens, on September 11, 1997, the Settling Defendants filed a "Motion In The Nature of Interpleader" ("Interpleader Motion") seeking direction as to where they should deposit these initial payments. (App. 54).

After hearing argument, the court entered an order on September 11, 1997 granting Defendants' Interpleader Motion ("Order on Interpleader Motion", App. 52).

aspect of the contemplated arbitration proceeding, including, but certainly not limited to <u>when</u> it would commence -- some demanded an immediate arbitration date; others wanted to delay the arbitration until after consideration of a proposed national settlement -- still others insisted on <u>no</u> arbitration at all.

The court ordered the initial payments to be paid into the escrow accounts, to be disbursed upon "further court order." (App. 52). Nothing in this Order on Interpleader Motion changed the requirements of the Settlement Agreement that there be "immediate benefits" paid to the State of Florida. Accordingly, the Settling Defendants deposited \$750 million "for the benefit of the State of Florida," into two separate escrow accounts, and agreed to two Escrow Agreements, dated September 15, 1997. No one objected to the terms of the Escrow Agreements. (App. 48.) Final approval of the Settlement Agreement occurred on September 24, 1997, and on that date, all the settlement funds became State Funds.¹³

E. The November 12 Order Quashing The Notices of Charging Liens And The Fourth District's Opinion Quashing Such Order

Various competing PTA lawyers continued their highly publicized demands for fees. By the fall of 1997, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement had initiated a criminal investigation into the Medicaid Provider Contract. (Supp. App. 12). Despite the fact that "the court did everything within its power to have the nasty dispute concerning attorneys' fees resolved to the satisfaction of all parties, including "[r]eferrals to mediation, facilitators and [the ordering of] arbitration," all such efforts

¹³The Settling Defendants do not dispute that "Final Approval" of the Settlement Agreement has now occurred, but contend that it occurred on June 25, 1998, 30 days after entry of the final judgment.

were unsuccessful because of the exorbitant, multi-billion dollar demands made by certain PTA lawyers. Finally, on November 12, 1997, after two hearings on the matter, the court rendered its "Order Granting Motion to Quash Charging Liens"(the "November Order," App. 46), which found the lawyers' multi-billion dollar demands to be excessive and unreasonable under the Rule 4-1.5, Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. The Order voided the PTA's notices to the extent they sought fees of \$2.8 billion, and did not address the State's dispositive, sovereign immunity arguments. Six months later, the Fourth District vacated this November Order, granting petitions for certiorari by three lawyers on due process grounds, and ruling that the PTA lawyers were entitled to a further hearing on their putative liens. Kerrigan et. al. v. State, 23 Fla.L.Wkly.1243 (Fla. 4th DCA May 18, 1998). (App. 61). The Fourth District's opinion did <u>not</u> address the State's dispositive, jurisdictional sovereign immunity arguments. Id.

F. <u>PTA Lawyer Montgomery's Tortious Interference Suit.</u>

In its November Order, the court held that "no discovery or further hearings shall be conducted or held regarding attorneys' fees or costs." (App. 46, pg. 1). PTA member Montgomery wanted discovery on his fee claim, however, and circumvented this order by filing a tortious interference suit in the same court: <u>Montgomery &</u> <u>Larmoyeux, et. al. v. Philip Morris, Inc., et al.</u>, Case No. Cl 97-10357 AE (the

"Montgomery suit," App. 45). In this suit, Montgomery alleges the two PTA Designees and two of the Settling Defendants "tortiously interfered" with "his individual rights" under the Medicaid Provider Contract by settling the tobacco litigation. Immediately after filing this suit on November 18, 1997, Montgomery began scheduling depositions of those he sought to depose but had been precluded from deposing in this case - including his own client, the Governor, and the Attorney General, and also including the trial judge, Judge Cohen. Despite representations to the court by Montgomery's partner and attorney that Montgomery would not use any such depositions as grounds to move to recuse Judge Cohen,¹⁴ in fact Montgomery soon did just that. On July 9, 1998, Montgomery and two other PTA lawyers, without their client's (the State's) consent, moved to disqualify Judge Cohen from the entire case, on grounds he was "biased" as to their \$2.8 billion charging liens, and that he could be a witness (quoting the depositions of the Governor and Attorney General taken by Montgomery's partner as purportedly contradicting what the trial judge had stated). (Supp. App. 3).

¹⁴See, Supp. App. 11, at pg. 18, lines 13-17; App. 62 at pgs. 64-64.

G. PTA Lawyer Gentry's Motion To Amend The Settlement Agreement For The PTA's Benefit And Further Notice Of A <u>Charging Lien.</u>

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