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

Therefore, the funds subject to the charging liens are not "State funds," but are in *custodia legis*. It is the Lawyers who have "vested rights" to these funds as a result of their charging liens. *See Mabry v. Knabb*, 10 So. 2d 330, 336 (Fla. 1942). As a matter of law, a contingency fee agreement operates as an equitable assignment of a percentage of any recovery. *Forman v. Kennedy*, 22 So. 2d 890 (Fla. 1945); *United States v. Transocean Air Lines*, 356 F. 2d 702, 705 (5th Cir. 1966); *Litman v. Fine Jacobson, Schwartz, Nash, Block & England, P.A.*, 517 So. 2d 88, 92 n. 5 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

Since the proceeds of the settlement are not "State funds" until paid to and received by the State's Treasury, the trial court had and continues to have authority to order the disbursement of the funds. The only "disbursement" that has occurred (other than over \$550 million disbursed to the State) is disbursement into the registry of the court. The authorities cited by the State as to the lack of judicial power to appropriate "State funds" are therefore inapposite. *See* State's Brief at 26-29.²⁵

Finally, the State asserts that <u>all</u> State contracts are subject to appropriations by the legislature. State's Brief at 28. None of the authorities cited by the State supports this proposition. The State conceded in the trial court that it was not asking the Lawyers to go to the legislature. (SA 51 at 63)

The appropriations power is found in Article VII, § 1(a) of the Constitution, which provides that no money shall be withdrawn from the state treasury except by appropriations. Here, the legal fees are to be paid from the recovery, not from the Treasury. The appropriations power is never implicated.

Moreover, as § 216.311 states, it does not apply to

²⁵ The State cites *State ex rel. Kurz v. Lee*, 163 So. 859, 868 (Fla. 1935) for the proposition that State funds include "potential" State funds, but the State's reliance on *Karz* is misplaced. *Kurz* only referred to potential revenue from "tax sources" as State funds requiring appropriations for expenditure.

contracts specifically authorized by law. Section 409.910(15) is such an authorization, overruling § 216.311. For the same reasons, § 287.0582, relating to "Contracts which require annual appropriation," is inapplicable to the Fee Contract, which provides for the fees to be paid only from a successful recovery, as does the enabling statute, § 409.910(15).²⁶ That is obviously the reason the State did not use the Standard Contract language in Section III.B.2 of the Fee Contract.²⁷ (SA 58 at 4)²⁸

B. <u>Senate Bill 1270 is Unconstitutional</u>

Senate Bill 1270 Violates Article II, § 3, Separation Of Powers

Senate Bill 1270 specifically expropriates "funds on deposit in accounts 3660512058 and 3660510843 at NationsBank, N.A.,

²⁶ If any conflict is seen between the general provisions of § 287.0582 and the specific authority of § 409.910(15), the more specific statute controls.

[A] specific statute covering a particular subject area always controls over a statute covering the same and other subjects in more general terms. The more specific statute is considered to be an exception to the general terms of the more comprehensive statute.

McKendry v. State, 641 So.2d 45, 46 (Fla. 1994) (citations omitted).

²⁷ The State's implication that the lawyers unilaterally deleted any provision is unsupported (and untrue). See State's Brief at 33.

²⁸ Moreover, the Governor knew the legislature would not authorize legal fees for the tobacco case. (KA 13 at 18) pursuant to Escrow Agreement dated September 15, 1997, and raised as a result of litigation entitled The State of Florida et al. vs. American Tobacco Company, et al., Case #95-1466AH, in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County " Senate Bill 1270 Section 3. (KA 29) That Act is a patent usurpation of judicial authority and violates Article II, § 3, Fla. Const.²⁹

> "the courts have authority to do things that are absolutely essential to the performance of their judicial functions[.]" . . . "[a]ny legislation that hampers judicial action or interferes with the discharge of judicial functions is unconstitutional . . .

> The citizens of this state have expressly codified this doctrine in article II, section 3 of the Florida Constitution, ... "no branch may encroach upon the powers of another." To achieve this constitutional goal of separation of governmental powers, the courts of this state are charged with diligently safeguarding the powers vested in one branch from encroachment by another . . .

Walker v. Bentley, 660 So. 2d 313, 320 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), approved, 678 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. 1996) (emphasis added, citations omitted).

²⁹ Article II, § 3, Fla. Const., provides:

The powers of the state government shall be divided in to legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein. In The Federalist Papers, Alexander Hamilton described the danger that would be created by the aggregation, rather than the proper separation, of these governmental powers:

> From a body which had even a partial agency in passing bad laws we could rarely expect a disposition to temper and moderate them in the application. The same spirit which had operated in making them would be too apt to operate in interpreting them; still less could it be expected that men who had infringed the Constitution in the character of legislators would be disposed to repair the breach in the character of judges.

The Federalist No. 81.

To avoid such evil, the classic American allocation of powers was created: "the power of '[t]he interpretation of the laws' would be 'the proper and peculiar province of the courts.'" *Plaut v. Spendthrift Farm, Inc.*, 514 U.S. 211, 222, 115 S. Ct. 1447, 1454 (1995) (quoting The Federalist No. 78).

Senate Bill 1270 not only intrudes upon judicial authority generally, it also encroaches upon this Court's exclusive power to prescribe rules of procedure for Florida courts. Article V, § 2(a), Fla. Const. provides, "The supreme court shall adopt rules for the practice and procedure in all courts. . . ." Senate Bill 1270, § 4(1), violates Article II, § 3 by empowering the Comptroller to enforce the appropriation in Section 3 by bringing a lawsuit "to ensure that the state's title to these funds is affirmed," and then specifically precluding

intervention in the lawsuit by parties who might otherwise be entitled to intervene under Rule 1.230, Fla.R.Civ.P.³⁰

Kerrigan, Montgomery and Schlesinger would obviously have an interest in any litigation that would be initiated by the Comptroller pursuant to Senate Bill 1270, and would assert their Rule 1.230 right to intervene in any such action. To the extent that the statute purports to trump the Rule, it is unconstitutional as violative of Article II, § 3, Florida Constitution.

2. Senate Bill 1270 Violates The Right To Access To Court

The Florida Constitution guarantees access to court for redress of grievances. Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const. Section 4 of Senate Bill 1270 - purporting to eliminate interested parties' right to intervene in litigation - violates the putative intervenors' rights under Article I, § 21. See Kluger v. White, 281 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973) (abolishment of right to access to court must be based on "an overpowering public necessity for the

³⁰ Rule 1.230 provides:

Anyone claiming an interest in pending litigation may at any time be permitted to assert a right by intervention, but the intervention shall be in subordination to, and in recognition of, the propriety of the main proceeding, unless otherwise ordered by the court in its discretion. abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity").

3. Senate Bill 1270 is an Unconstitutional Special Law

The Florida Constitution governs the procedures for enactment of special laws. See Art. III, § 10, Fla. Const. It prohibits certain special or local laws that are inconsistent with general law. Art. III, § 11, Fla. Const. (listing 21 prohibited special laws or general laws of local application). Senate Bill 1270 violates Article III, § 11(a)(6) (prohibiting special laws pertaining to "change of civil or criminal venue"). Senate Bill 1270 is also prohibited, because no notice was provided in advance of its enactment.

General principles governing prohibited "special laws" are set forth in *Department of Business Regulation v. Classic Mile, Inc.*, 541 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1989) (emphasis added):

> The constitution defines a special law as a special or local law. Art. X, § 12(g), Fla. As explained in case law, a special Const. law is one relating to, or designed to operate upon, particular persons or things, one that purports to operate upon or classified persons \mathbf{or} things when classification is not permissible or the classification adopted is illegal; . . .

> . . . A special law is not converted into a general law by the legislature's treating it and passing it as a general law.

Senate Bill 1270 violates Article III, §11(a)(6) by eliminating Palm Beach County as an appropriate venue for the action created by the statute - an action pertaining exclusively to the settlement funds in the Florida tobacco litigation.

Section 4 of the new statute impermissibly dictates that "[s]uch action shall be filed in the circuit court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, which circuit shall have exclusive jurisdiction thereof." The subject of venue, generally, is a state-wide subject, governed by Chapter 47, Florida Statutes.³¹ Because it purports to define venue for a particular action other than as provided in Chapter 47, Senate Bill 1270 is a "special law," and conflicts with the prohibition contained in Article III, § 11(a)(6).

4. Senate Bill 1270 Violates The Single Subject Requirement Of Article III, § 12, Florida Constitution

Senate Bill 1270 violates the single subject rule of Article III, § 12. In addition to appropriating State funds, and matters relating to appropriations, the statute expropriates funds under court control, prescribes causes of action to be brought by the Comptroller, limits the venue for the action contrary to general law, limits the parties to the action

³¹ Section 47.011, Fla. Stat., provides in relevant part: "Actions shall be brought only in the county where the defendant resides, where the cause of action accrued, or where the property in litigation is located . . ."

contrary to Rules of Civil Procedure, and prescribes the means of service of "notice of such action" to be provided to the financial institution. Those matters go beyond the single subject of appropriations, and render the statute invalid under Article III, § 12, Florida Constitution.³²

5. Senate Bill 1270 Violates Due Process of Law and Impairs Contractual Obligations

Senate Bill 1270 is unprecedented. It names a pending lawsuit, identifies an account number for funds being held in *custodia legis* by agreement of the parties, and seeks to invade the province of that court by expropriating those funds from the court's control. *See Plaut v. Spendthrift Farm, Inc.*, 514 U.S. 211, 115 S.Ct. 1447 (1995) (striking down as unconstitutional an unprecedented federal statute which purported to require Article III federal courts to re-open certain final judgments).³³ The

³³ In *Plaut*, 514 U.S. at 230, 115 S. Ct. at 1458, the Supreme Court wrote:

³² Article III, § 12, Florida Constitution, as a "corollary" to Article III, § 6 (Department of Education v. Lewis, 416 So. 2d 455, 459 (Fla. 1982)), requires that "[1]aws making appropriations for . . . current expenses of the state shall contain provisions on no other subject." "[A] general appropriations bill must deal only with appropriations and matters properly connected therewith." Brown v. Firestone, 382 So. 2d 654, 663 (Fla. 1980).

Apart from the statute we review today, we know of no instance in which Congress has attempted to set aside the final judgment of an Article III court by retroactive legislation. That prolonged reticence would be amazing if such interference were not understood to be constitutionally proscribed.

Comptroller's action contemplated by Section 4 of the statute, in which the lienholders would be statutorily excluded from intervening and litigating their claims to be paid attorneys' fees from the settlement fund, is a blatant violation of the most elemental aspect of due process of law - the right to be heard. *Grannis v. Ordean*, 234 U.S. 385, 394, 34 S.Ct. 779, 783 (1914).

The statute's non-intervention provision deprives the Lawyers of their right to be heard in the only proceeding which is contemplated to have jurisdiction over the subject funds. Those funds are inextricably linked to the Fee Contract. Therefore, the statute denies them due process of law and impairs the contract, and thus is unconstitutional under both the Florida and federal constitutions.

> The right to contract is one of the most sacrosanct rights guaranteed by our fundamental law. It is expressly guaranteed by article I, section 10 of the Florida Constitution . . . The legislature has only a very severely limited authority to change the law to eliminate a contractual obligation it has itself created. Art. I, § 10, Fla. Const.

Chiles v. United Faculty of Florida, 615 So. 2d 671, 672 (Fla. 1993). The enactment of Senate Bill 1270 violates the State's constitutional duty to respect its contractual obligations.

C. <u>Senate Bill 1270 Has No Application to Funds in the</u> <u>Registry of the Court</u>

The trial court's May 15 Order was signed at 2:45 p.m., before Senate Bill 1270 became law upon the Governor's signature at 4:10 p.m. At the time Judge Cohen acted, his Order did not violate an as-yet-unsigned "law." The question then arises whether Senate Bill 1270 applies retroactively to trump preenactment judicial acts. It does not. "[A] substantive statute will not operate retrospectively absent clear legislative intent to the contrary, but ... a procedural or remedial statute is to operate retrospectively. (Emphasis supplied)." State Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co. v. Laforet, 658 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 1995). Senate Bill 1270 is therefore not retroactive because it creates (and purports to eliminate) substantive rights: "The Legislature asserts its rights to appropriate all funds paid or payable to the state through the tobacco settlement." Senate Bill 1270, Section 2(1).³⁴

The Lawyers who have filed charging liens in the circuit court have a vested contractual right to be paid fees from the settlement funds. See, e.g., Mabry v. Knabb, 10 So. 2d 330, 336 (Fla. 1942). The contingency contemplated in the Fee Contract

³⁴ Even if a statute is expressly stated to be retroactive, this Court "has refused to apply a statute retroactively if the statute impairs vested rights, creates new obligations, or imposes new penalties." State Farm, supra. See also Gupton v. Village Key & Saw Shop, Inc., 656 So. 2d 475, 477 (Fla. 1995).

with the State has occurred; therefore, the Lawyers' right to be paid is a "vested right."

Therefore, Senate Bill 1270 is unconstitutional, and in any event is not retroactively applicable to funds in *custodia legis*.

II.

THE CHARGING LIENS ARE VALID

Although the charging liens are not before this Court for review, the State devotes a good deal of its brief attacking them. The State's arguments are not properly presented in this appeal, and in any event are without merit, but we are compelled to respond.

A. The Fee Contract is Valid

The charging liens against the recovery are valid.³⁵ The charging liens are based on the Fee Contract. The charging liens secure the Lawyers' right to be paid, as agreed, from the settlement proceeds. *E.g., Kerrigan*, 711 So. 2d at 1248. Unless the charging liens are respected, "there may be no other way to secure counsels' claims for fees and costs." *Id. See also, Forman v. Kennedy*, 22 So. 2d 890 (Fla. 1945).

³⁵ This Court has consistently rejected belated attempts to dishonor fee agreements; Carter v. Davis, 8 Fla. 183 (1858); Mabry v. Knabb, 10 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1942); Miller v. Scobie, 11 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 1943); Nichols v. Kroelinger, 46 So. 2d 722, 724 (Fla. 1950); In re Barker's Estate, 75 So. 2d 303, 304 (Fla. 1954); see Brown v. Vermont Mut. Ins. Co., 614 So. 2d 574, 580

Faced with this uncontrovertable law, the State contends that the Fee Contract does not mean what it says, and that any legal fee-even one paid directly from the escrowed recovery-is subject to "appropriation." State's Brief at 33. In the alternative, the State now says the entire contract is "void." *Id.* at 35. The State had conceded below that "we are not seeking to quash their contract." (SA 51 at 50).

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